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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the shareholders of Pacific Wildcat Resources Corp.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Pacific Wildcat
Resources Corp., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes
in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Pacific Wildcat Resources Corp. as at December 31, 2013 and 2012
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which
indicates that the Company has incurred a net loss of $60,555,579 for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and has an accumulated deficit of $57,615,590 as of December 31, 2013.
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern.
(signed) “BDO CANADA LLP”
Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia
August 22, 2014
BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the
international BDO network of independent member firms.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP.
(An Exploration Stage Company)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
As at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012

Note
ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Prepaids

Non-Current
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (CAPITAL
DEFICIT)
Current
Trade and other payables
Loans payable
Notes payable

Loans payable to related parties

6
7

$

8
9

10
11,1
6
12

89,737
11,738
20,790
122,265

$

2,437,440
1,593,605

124,775
151,367
7,066
283,208

2,409,833
58,153,039

$

4,153,310

$

60,846,080

$

1,858,048

$

461,136

16

Total liabilities
Shareholders' equity (Capital Deficit)
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Subscriptions received in advance
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Non-controlling interest
Deficit

December
31
2012

December 31
2013

13
13
5,13

Total shareholders' equity (capital deficit)
$

150,533
2,105,000
4,113,581

905,088
1,775,000
3,141,224

2,315,501

1,913,286

6,429,082

5,054,510

50,352,376
6,356,622
29,357
(64,792)
(1,333,745)
(57,615,590)

48,139,317
6,022,079
23,930
16,036,636
(14,430,392)

(2,275,772)
4,153,310

They are signed on the Company’s behalf by:

“Don O’Sullivan”

“Chris Lalor”

Don O’Sullivan
Director

Chris Lalor
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

$

55,791,570
60,846,080

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP.
(An Exploration Stage Company)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012
December 31
Note
2013
Expenses
Administrative and general
Depreciation
Foreign exchange
Pre-exploration expenditures
Share-based payments
Total expenses
Other Income (expenses)
Interest Income
Interest expense on convertible notes payable
Interest expense
Loss on debt settlement
Write-down of sales taxes receivable
Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets
Loss before income tax
Deferred tax recovery
Net loss after income tax

15
8

$

14

11
7
9
17

Other comprehensive loss:
Gain (loss) on reporting currency translation

926,065
45,206
16,236
1,883
5,651
(995,041)

December 31
2012

$

1,718,417
47,899
23,183
17,025
639,220
(2,445,744)

1,995
(317,820)
(12,056)
(328,892)
(101,236)
(58,802,529)
(60,555,579)
—
(60,555,579)

17,331
(53,412)
(51,627)
—
(6,347,080)
(8,880,532)
774,000
(8,106,532)

(88,722)

27,883

Total other comprehensive loss

$

(88,722)

$

27,883

Total comprehensive loss for the year

$

(60,644,301)

$

(8,078,649)

Net loss attributed to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

$

(43,185,198)
(17,370,381)

$

(8,106,532)
—

$

(60,555,579)

$

(8,106,532)

$

(43,273,920)
(17,370,381)

$

(8,852,649)
—

$

(60,644,301)

$

(8,852,649)

$

(0.21)

$

(0.04)

Total other comprehensive loss attributed to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Loss per common share basic and diluted

18

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES LTD

(An Exploration Stage Company)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012

Note
Balance, December 31, 2011
Loss for the year

Common
Shares Amount

Shares to
be Issued

Subscriptions
Received

Contributed
Surplus

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other Income

Non
Controlling
Interest

Total

25,098,903

190,000

2,426,425

5,255,495

(6,323,860)

(3,953)

$—

26,643,010

—

—

—

—

(8,106,532)

—

—

(8,106,532)

Share issued for cash

13

6,000,000

—

(2,426,425)

—

—

—

—

3,573,575

Exercise of warrants

13

8,182

—

—

—

—

—

—

8,182

Stock options exercised
Shares issued for Mineral Property
Interest

13

89,639

—

—

(32,639)

—

—

—

57,000

9

17,175,712

—

—-

—

—

—

—

17,175,712

Shares issued for compensation

13

190,000

(190,000)

—

—

—

—

—

-

Share issue costs

13

(423,119)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(423,119)

Stock based compensation
Fair value of agents warrants in
connection with the private placement
Fair value of finder’s warrants issued in
connection with convertible notes
payable
Adjustment on acquisition for noncontrolling interest

14

—

—

—

639,220

—

—

—

639,220

14

—

—

—

14,095

—

—

—

14,095

14

—

—

—

145,908

—

—

—

145,908

—

—

—

—

—

—

16,036,636

16,036,636

Foreign exchange translation

5

—

—

—

—

—

27,883

—

27,883

Balance, December 31, 2012

48,139,317
—

—

—
—

6,022,079
—

(14,430,392)

—

23,930
—

Loss for the year

16,036,636

55,791,570
(60,555,579)

—

(17,370,381)
—

—

—

1,328,450
(9,538)

Shares issued on debt settlement

13

894,147

—

—

—

(43,185,198)
—

Share capital issued

13

1,328,450

—

—

—

—

Share issue costs

13

—

—

—

—

—

—

Stock based compensation

14

(9,538)
—

—

-

5,651

—

—

—

5,651

Fair value of warrants on debt settlement

11

-

-

-

-

-

-

328,892

Subscriptions received

13

—

—

—

—

—

29,357

Foreign exchange translation

—

—

29,357
—

328,892
—
—

—

(88,722)

—

(88,722)

Balance, December 31, 2013

50,352,376

—

29,357

6,356,622

(57,615,590)

(64,792)

(1,333,745)

(2,275,772)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

894,147

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP.
(An Exploration Stage Company)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Expressed in Canadian Dollars
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012
December 31
2013
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation
Share based payments
Write-down of sales taxes receivable
Write-down on exploration and evaluation assets
Loss on settlement of debt
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)
Interest on convertible notes payable
Interest on loans payable
Foreign exchange
Interest income
Financing costs on convertible notes payable

$

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Receivables
Trade and other payables
Prepaid expenses
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Cash acquired as part of assets acquisition
Interest income
Investment in exploration and evaluation assets
Interest in mineral property option
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from loans payable
Repayment of loans
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Financing costs on convertible notes payable
Subscriptions received in advance
Issuance of shares
Share issuance costs
Proceeds from related party loans
Net cash provided by financing activities
Decrease in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

(60,555,579)

December 31
2012

$

(8,106,532)

45,206
5,651
101,236
58,802,529
328,892
—
317,820
12,056
(109,110)
(1,995)
—

6,347,080
—
(774,000)
53,412
51,627
—
(17,331)
245,909

38,393
194,791
(13,724)
(833,834)

(193,262)
(105,910)
424,258
(1,387,630)

(53,835)
—
1,995
(1,370,850)
—
(1,422,690)

(120,977)
72,602
17,331
(2,907,691)
(4,915,374)
(7,854,109)

285,780
(144,780)
330,000
—
29,357
1,328,450
(9,536)
402,215
2,221,486

905,088
—
1,000,000
(100,000)
(2,426,425)
6,065,182
(409,024)
—
5,034,821

(35,038)

(4,206,918)

124,775
89,737

47,899
639,220

$

See Note 20 for Non-Cash Transactions
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

4,331,693
124,775

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

1. CORPORATION INFORMATION
Pacific Wildcat Resources Corp. (“PAW” or the “Company”) is incorporated under the Business Corporations Act
(British Columbia) and is primarily engaged in the acquisition and development of mineral properties located in Africa.
The business of exploring for and mining of minerals involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that
current exploration programs will result in profitable mining operations. The Company’s principal asset is the TML
Licenses located in Mozambique and its ownership of 100% of Stirling Capital Limited and Cortec (Pty) Ltd., owners of a
70% interest Cortec Mining Kenya Limited, holder of the exploration rights to the Mrima Hill Niobium and Rare Earth
Property, located in Kenya.
The Company is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange, having the symbol PAW.V as a Tier 2 issuer and its corporate
office and principal place of business is located at 110 – 2300 Carrington Road, West Kelowna, B.C. Canada, V4T 1G3.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND GOING CONCERN
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 22, 2014.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
assets and liabilities, which have been measured at amortized cost.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars (“CDN”), which is also the Company’s
functional currency.
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
The Company has not generated revenue from operations. The Company incurred a net loss of $60,555,579 during the
year-ended December 31, 2013, as at December 31, 2013 had a working capital deficiency of $3,991,316, has an
accumulated deficit of $57,615,590 and is expected to continue to incur losses. The Company’s current legal dispute
with the Kenya Minister of Mines in relation to its Mrima Hill Project as described in Note 9 herein below has resulted in
the Company significantly reducing its exploration activities and future planned exploration activities at Mrima Hill, until
this dispute has been resolved. These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. As the Company is in the exploration stage,
the recoverability of the costs incurred to date on exploration properties is dependent upon the existence of
economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the
exploration and development of its properties and upon future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of
the properties and deferred exploration expenditures. The Company will periodically have to raise funds to continue
operations and, although it has been successful in doing so in the past, there is no assurance it will be able to do so in
the future.
Should the Company no longer be able to continue as a going concern, certain assets and liabilities may require
restatement on a liquidation basis which may differ materially from the going concern basis.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of:

Tantalum Mineracao e Prespeccao Limitada (“TML”)
Stirling Capital Limited (“Stirling”)
Cortec (Pty) Ltd. (“Cortec UK”)
Cortec Mining Kenya Limited (“CMK”)

% of ownership

Jurisdiction

Principal Activity

100
100
100
70

Mozambique
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Kenya

Exploration
Holding
Holding
Exploration

All subsidiaries are entities that we control, either directly or indirectly, where control is defined as the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. This control is evidenced
through owning more than 50% of the voting rights or currently exercisable potential voting rights of a company’s share
capital. All inter-company transactions and balances including unrealized income and expenses arising from
intercompany transactions are eliminated in preparing consolidated financial statements. For subsidiaries that we
control, but do not own 100% of, the net assets and net profit (loss) attributable to outside shareholders are presented
as amounts attributable to non-controlling interests in the consolidated statements of financial position and
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
Foreign Currency Transactions
The functional and presentation currency of the parent Company, Stirling, Cortec UK and CMK is the Canadian dollar,
and the functional currency of TML is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency determinations were conducted through
an analysis of the consideration factors identified in IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using
the historical rate on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are stated at carrying value
are translated using the historical rate on the date that the fair value was determined. All gains and losses on
translation of these foreign currency transactions are charged to the statement of operations.
Where the functional currency is different from the presentation currency, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate at the reporting date and the income statement is
translated into Canadian dollars using the average exchange rate for the period. All gains and losses on translation
from the functional currency to the presentation currency are charged to other comprehensive income.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, demand deposits with financial institutions and other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures
Pre-exploration Costs
Pre-exploration costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Mineral Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures (cont’d)
Acquisition costs
The fair value of all consideration paid to acquire an exploration and evaluation asset is capitalized, including amounts
arising under option agreements. Consideration may include cash, loans or other financial liabilities, and equity
instruments including common shares and share purchase warrants.
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to exploration and evaluation
expenditures (“E&E”) are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the acquisition costs. These direct expenditures
include such costs as materials used, surveying costs, drilling costs, payments made to contractors and depreciation
on plant and equipment during the exploration phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation
activities, including general administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the year in which they occur.
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the Company, acquisition costs and
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. As a result, those
exploration and evaluation expenditure and acquisition costs, in excess of estimated recoveries, are written off to the
statement of comprehensive loss/income.
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that
the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the
property will be considered to be a mine under development and will be classified as ‘mines under construction’.
Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment before the assets are transferred to development
properties.
As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in connection with exploration
activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration costs.
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as intangible assets.
Farm-Out Arrangements
The Company may occasionally enter into farm-out arrangements, whereby the Company will transfer part of a mineral
interest, as consideration, for an agreement by the transferee to meet certain exploration and evaluation expenditures
which would have otherwise been undertaken by the Company. The Company does not record any expenditures made
by the farmee on its behalf. Any consideration received from the agreement is credited against the costs previously
capitalized to the mineral interest given up by the Company, with any excess accounted for as a gain on disposal.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition and Measurement
On initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are valued at cost, being the purchase price and directly
attributable cost of acquisition or construction required to bring the asset to the location and condition necessary to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the Company, including appropriate borrowing costs and the estimated
present value of any future unavoidable costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is
recognized within provisions. Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation, less any accumulated impairment losses, with the exception of land which is not depreciated. When parts
of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major
components) of property, plant and equipment.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Subsequent Costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if
it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of
property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Major Maintenance and Repairs
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial year
in which they are incurred.
Gains and Losses
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount, and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss.
Depreciation
Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss and is provided at the following rates:
Percentage
Field equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Vehicles

12.5 - 30
12.5 - 20
30
25 - 30

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if
appropriate.
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
Impairment tests on non-financial assets, including exploration and evaluation assets are undertaken whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is
written down accordingly.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on
the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.
An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss, except to the extent it reverses gains previously recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive loss/income.
Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified into the following category based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. All
transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis. The Company's accounting policy is as
follows:

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Financial Assets (cont’d)

Loans and Receivables
These assets are non-derivative financial assets resulting from the delivery of cash or other assets by a lender to a
borrower in return for a promise to repay on a specified date or dates, or on demand. They are initially recognized at
fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and subsequently carried at
amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortized cost is calculated
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables
are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process. Cash and cash equivalent is included in this
category.

Derivatives
These assets are derivative financial assets which include investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivates that are linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, which shall be measured at fair value at the initial
date and at cost after the initial recognition. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has $Nil in derivates asset (2012 $Nil).

Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired, if, and only if,
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities, based on the purpose for which the liability was incurred.
These liabilities are initially recognized at fair value net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of
the instrument and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. This ensures that
any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the
statement of financial position. Interest expense in this context includes initial transaction costs and premiums payable
on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.
Trade and other payables, loans payable, notes payable and loans payable to related parties are included in this
category.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized as liabilities when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events
where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the obligation
estimated at the end of each reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows.
Rehabilitation Provision
The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to environmental disturbances caused by
exploration and evaluation activities. The Company records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and
constructive obligations required to restore the exploration sites in the year in which the obligation is incurred. The nature
of the rehabilitation activities, include restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of the affected exploration sites.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Rehabilitation Provision (cont’d)
The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject to government laws and
regulations. When the liability is recognized, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the
carrying amount of the related exploration properties. Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in
present value based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. Additional environment disturbances
or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability
in the year in which they occur. As at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had no rehabilitation provisions.
Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale (a qualifying asset) are capitalized as part of the cost
of the respective asset. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
Where funds are borrowed specifically to finance a project, the amount capitalized represents the actual borrowing
costs incurred. Where surplus funds are available for a short-term from funds borrowed specifically to finance a
project, the income generated from the temporary investment of such amounts is also capitalized and deducted from
the total capitalized borrowing cost. Where the funds used to finance a project form part of general borrowings, the
amount capitalized is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to relevant general borrowings of the
Group during the period.
All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
Even though exploration and evaluation assets can be qualifying assets, they generally do not meet the “probable
economic benefits” test and also are rarely debt funded. Any related borrowing costs incurred during this phase are
therefore recognized in profit or loss in the period they are incurred.
Income Taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive loss/income.
Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss
for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years. Current income taxes
are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end rate.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax
base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they relate to
income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences is restricted
to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset
can be utilized. At the end of each reporting year the Company reassesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The
Company recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Share Capital
Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the Company. Financial instruments
issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition of a financial
liability or financial asset. The Company’s common shares and share warrants are classified as equity instruments.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.
Earnings / Loss Per Share
Basic earnings/loss per share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares of the
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the relevant year. Diluted earnings/loss
per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of the
weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional common shares that would have
been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted.
Share-based Payments
The fair value, at the grant date, of equity-settled share awards is charged to income or loss over the period for which
the benefits of employees and others providing similar services are expected to be received. The corresponding
accrued entitlement is recorded in the equity-settled employee benefits reserve. The amount recognized as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the number of share options expected to vest. The fair value of awards is calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model which considers the following factors:
•
●
●

Exercise price
Expected life of the award
Expected volatility

●
●
●

Current market price of the underlying shares
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards
Effective January 1, 2013, the Company adopted the following new and revised International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) that were issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

(i) Amended standard IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amendment to IFRS 7 enhances the disclosure required when offsetting financial assets and liabilities. The
application of this IFRS did not have a material impact on the amounts reported for the current or prior years but
may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

(ii) New standard IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12
Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities by introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on
control, irrespective of the nature of the investee, that is whether an entity is controlled through voting rights of
investors or through other contractual arrangements as is common in special purpose entities. The application of
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (cont’d)

(ii) New standard IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
this IFRS did not have a material impact on the amounts reported for the current or prior years but may affect the
accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

(iii) New standard IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 defines the two types of joint arrangements (joint operations and joint ventures) and outlines how to
determine the type of joint arrangement entered into and the principles for accounting for each type of joint
arrangement. As the Company is not a party to these types of joint arrangements, the application of this IFRS did
not have a material impact on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that have been announced but are not yet effective that could
have a material impact on the Company.

(iv) New standard IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 outlines the disclosures required in order to provide users of financial statements with the information
necessary to evaluate an entity’s interest in other entities, the corresponding risks related to those interests and
the effects of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The
application of this IFRS did not have any material impact on the amounts reported for the current or prior years but
may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements. The application of this IFRS did not have a
material impact on disclosures in the Company’s financial statements.

(v) New standard IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 defines fair value, summarizes the methods of determining fair value and outlines the required fair value
disclosures. IFRS 13 is utilized when another IFRS standard requires or allows fair value measurements or
disclosures about fair value measurements. The application of this IFRS did not have a material impact on the
amounts reported for the current or prior years

(vi) Amended standard IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendments to IAS 1 pertain to the number of comparative financial statements required in different
circumstances and disclosure required in the statement of comprehensive loss. The application of this IFRS did not
have a material impact on the amounts reported for the current or prior years but may affect the accounting for
future transactions or arrangements.

(vii) Amended standard IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the treatment of income tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity
instrument and to transaction costs of an equity transaction. The application of this IFRS did not have a material
impact on the amounts reported for the current or prior years but may affect the accounting for future transactions
or arrangements.
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective
Certain pronouncements have been issued by the IASB, or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are mandatory for
accounting years beginning after January 1, 2014 or later years.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
(An Exploration Stage Company)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Not Yet Effective (cont’d)

(i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
The amendments to IAS 32 pertain to the application guidance on the offsetting of financial assets and financial
liabilities, focused on four main areas: the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off”, the
application of simultaneous realization and settlement, the offsetting of collateral amounts and the unit of account
for applying the offsetting requirements. The application of this IFRS is not expected to have a material impact on the
amounts to be reported but may affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

(ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures
Amended standard IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: The amendments outline the disclosures required when initially
applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

IFRIC 21 Levies
The IASB issued IFRIC 21 – Levies (“IFRIC 21”), an interpretation of IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”), on the accounting for levies imposed by governments. IAS 37 sets out criteria for the
recognition of a liability, one of which is the requirement for the entity to have a present obligation as a result of a past
event (“Obligating Event”). IFRIC 21 clarifies that the Obligating Event that gives rise to a liability to pay a levy is the
activity described in the relevant legislation that triggers the payment of the levy. IFRIC 21 is effective for annual
periods commencing on or after January 1, 2014. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the final standard is
expected to have on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The standard is the first step in the process to replace IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement.
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets and liabilities and carries over from
the requirements of IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement, derecognition of financial assets and
financial liabilities. This standard is not applicable until January 1, 2015 but is available for early adoption. The
Company is currently assessing the impact that the adoption of IFRS 9 may have on its consolidated financial
statements.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the future,
actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions.
Judgments
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant risk of causing
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in the financial statements within the
next financial year discussed below:
i)

Title to Mineral Property Interests
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, these
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title. Such properties may be subject to prior agreements or transfer
and title may be affected by undetected defects. See Note 9.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (cont’d)
ii)

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures
The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditures requires judgment
in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to the Company.
If, after exploration and evaluation expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount the Company carries
out an impairment test at the cash generating unit or group of cash generating units level in the year the new
information becomes available. In assessing impairment for exploration and evaluation assets, the Company
applies judgement in considering factors that determine technical feasibility and commercial viability. Judgements
may change if new information becomes available. See Note 9, for impairment recorded by the Company with
respect to its exploration and evaluation assets during the year ended December 31, 2013. Impairment charges
recognized may be reversed if there are changes in assumptions or estimates which indicate that a previously
recognized impairment loss may no longer exist or may be decreased.

iii) Income Tax
The Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset as management believes it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which a deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
iv) Accounting of acquisition
Judgment is required in determining whether a transaction or an event is a business combination or an asset
acquisition. Significant areas requiring the use of management judgment relate to determining if the acquired
entity has the economic resources available using the existing system or infrastructure to create economic
benefits.
v)

Accounting Estimates
Significant judgment is required in determining the fair values in an acquisition; the consideration is measured at
fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Company in
exchange for control. The fair value of the equity instruments issued requires determining the appropriate share
price, valuation model and appropriate inputs such as volatility and market interest rates.
In measuring the valuation between liability and equity components, the Company measures the present value of
the convertible note payable by using discount rates that is estimated based on market interest rates at the time of
issuance. The effective interest rate is used to calculate the interest implicit in the convertible note payable and
allocates the residual value to the equity component. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has not bifurcated
the liability and equity components on the convertible notes payable as the fair values on the equity component are
immaterial and all proceeds have been allocated to the liability component.

5. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY
The Company completed acquisition of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Stirling Capital Limited and Cortec
(PTY) Ltd. (the “Acquisition”) on September 12, 2012 (collectively referred to as the “UK Subsidiaries”). The acquisition
was made pursuant to the July 22, 2010 Conditional Purchase Agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with Finebrook
Investments Pty Ltd, as trustee for the O’Sullivan Superannuation Fund (“O’Sullivan Fund “) and Dunross Capital Ltd
(“Dunross”). The UK Subsidiaries collectively have a 70% interest in Cortec Mining Kenya, a private Kenyan company
that holds three prospecting licences in Kenya. The Acquisition was completed in two tranches of 7% and 93%.
On February 28, 2011 the Company closed the initial tranche of the Acquisition and acquired 7% of the issued share
capital of each of Stirling and Cortec UK (the “Initial Closing”), to be held in escrow pending completion of the final
tranche of the Acquisition, with the second tranche of 93% of the issued share capital of Stirling and Cortec UK to be
acquired upon the satisfaction of certain condition precedents (the “Final Closing”).
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5. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (cont’d)
On December 14, 2011 and April 22, 2012 the Company and the Owners executed Amending Agreements wherein the
parties agreed to revise the schedule and timing of the payments to be made on the final closing of the Acquisition. The
overall total consideration to be paid to the Owners by PAW did not change.
The key terms of the Amended Agreements, which received acceptance of the TSX Venture Exchange on January 5,
2012, were as follows:
1)

PAW would make cash payment of AUS$3,000,000 (paid) to the Owners on the earlier of:
-

2)

two business days after the completion by PAW of a financing to raise minimum
gross proceeds of $4,000,000 (completed) and January 31, 2012.

The issuance to the Owners on January 3, 2012 of such number of common shares of PAW which when aggregated
with the shares already issued to the Owners in connection with the Acquisition, does not exceed 19.9% of the nondiluted number of the issued and outstanding PAW shares as at that date, provided such Closing Shares issued
would not exceed the aggregate number of 24,702,352 shares (issued 20,194,768on January 5, 2012).
3) The final closing would take place on May 7, 2012.

The parties agreed to extend the completion of the Acquisition from May 7, 2012 and agreed to the issue of the balance
of the Closing Shares of approximately 4,500,000 shares and the balance of cash due of approximately $10,960,147 to
the Owners on the final closing in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Acquisition Agreement.
On July 3, 2012, subject to Exchange approval the Company and Vendors entered into a further agreement (“Amending
Agreement”) to settle the previously agreed cash consideration of $10,960,147 (AUS$10,579,830) that is payable to the
Vendors on the closing of the Acquisition by a combination of the issuance of common shares and a convertible
promissory note.
On July 12, 2012 The Company received the Exchange’s conditional acceptance to amend the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement. Accordingly the Company issued to the Vendors 4,507,584 PAW Shares at an issue price of $0.08 per
share in accordance with the Acquisition Agreement. The overall total value of the consideration paid to the Vendors by
the Company on completion of the Acquisition did not change. The Amending Agreement remained subject to the
Company’s shareholders approval (received on September 10, 2012).
On September 12, 2012 the Company completed the Final Closing of the Acquisition of the remaining 93% of the issued
share capital of the UK Subsidiaries by issuing to the Vendors an aggregate of 92,592,244 common shares valued at
$8,333,302 (issue price of $0.09 per share) and issued to the Vendors convertible promissory notes in the aggregate
amount of $775,000 (See Note 12 Convertible Notes Payable). All securities issued to the Vendors on the final closing
were subject to a hold period that expired on January 13, 2013.
The Company determined that the UK Subsidiaries and CMK did not meet the definition of a business pursuant to IFRS
and accordingly the purchase has been accounted for as an asset acquisition, with the primary asset acquired being a
70% interest in mineral properties located in Kenya.
The following sets forth the purchase price allocation to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Purchase Price:
Cash
Convertible notes payable
Common shares
Subtotal
Drilling and exploration
Legal, professional and consulting costs
Total additional cost
Total consideration

$

$

6,650,813
775,000
25,345,711
32,771,524
2,748,714
1,898,579
4,647,293
37,418,817
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5. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (cont’d)
Net assets acquired:
Cash
Receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets
Trade Payables
Loans due to related parties (Note 16)
Non-controlling interest
Due to PAW
Total-net assets acquired

$

$

72,602
104,553
4,765
56,135,662
(129,303)
(1,835,457)
(16,036,636)
(897,369)
37,418,817

*Exploration and evaluation assets include:
Exploration and evaluation costs (CMK)
Purchase price
Adjustment for non-controlling interest
Adjust for net assets acquired

$

3,007,688
37,418,817
16,036,636
(327,479)

$

56,135,662

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at banks and on hand earns interest at floating and fixed rates based on daily deposit rates.

7. RECEIVABLES
December 31
2013
Sales taxes receivable
Other receivable
Receivables

$
$

1,203
10,535
11,738

December 31
2012
$
$

151,367
-151,367

Sales taxes receivable represent input tax credits arising from sales tax levied on the supply of goods purchased or
services received in Canada and Kenya. Sales taxes receivable of $101,236 related to the Mrima Hill properties has
been written off in conjunction with the write down of the property (Note 9).
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Assets under
Construction

Plant & Field
Equipment

Furniture &
Equipment

Office
Equipment

Vehicles

Total

Co st
Balance January 1, 2012

$

Assets acquired

1,418,327

$

1,064,227

34,664

Effect of foreign currency translation

—

Balance December 31, 2012

$

1,452,991

$

81,569
1,132,458

$

55,225

5,126

(13,338)
$

11,957
—

$

17,083

$

17,655
72,880

$

3,874

—
$

19,955

142,888

—
$

23,829

2,569,691
(13,338)

$

2,699,241

Assets acquired

—

53,835

—

—

—

53,835

Effect of foreign currency translation

—

18,978

—

—

—

18,978

B a la n c e De c e m be r 3 1 , 2 0 1 3

$

1 ,4 5 2 ,9 9 1

$

1 ,2 0 5 ,2 7 1

$

1 7 ,0 8 3

$

$

—

$

213,226

$

6,214

$

7 2 ,8 8 0

$

2 3 ,8 2 9

$

2 ,7 7 2 ,0 5 4

8,244

$

13,825

$

241,509

De pr e c ia t io n
Balance January 1, 2012
Depreciation for the period

—

Balance December 31, 2012

$

Depreciation for the period

—

16,539
$

229,765

—

B a la n c e De c e m be r 3 1 , 2 0 1 3

$

—

4,603
$

18,982
$

10,817

20,754
$

28,998

3,387

2 4 8 ,7 4 7

$

902,693
9 5 6 ,5 2 4

6,003
$

$

$

6,266

$

2 ,8 7 9

$

289,408

2 2 ,6 8 7

$

3 3 4 ,6 1 4

2,859

19,978

1 4 ,2 0 4

19,828

47,899
45,206

4 8 ,9 7 6

$

$

43,882

$

4,001

$

2,409,833

$

2 3 ,9 0 4

$

1 ,1 4 2

$

2 ,4 3 7 ,4 4 0

Ca r r yin g a m o u n t s
Carrying value at December 31, 2012

$

Ca r r yin g va lu e a t De c e m b e r 3 1 , 2 0 1 3

$

1,452,991 $
1 ,4 5 2 ,9 9 1

$

9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Mrima Hill

TMP Licenses
Costs
Balance at December 31, 2011
Acquisition costs (Note 5)
Exploration costs
Foreign exchange movement
Impairment
Balance at December 31, 2012
Exploration costs
Foreign exchange movement
Impairment
Balance at December 31, 2013

$

$

$

6,379,558
—
1,533,547
58,371
(6,347,080)
1,624,396
1,076,670
16,217
(1,123,679)
1,593,604

$

$

$

—
56,135,662
392,981
—
—
56,528,643
1,150,208
—
(57,678,850)
1

Total
$

$

$

6,379,558
56,135,662
1,926,528
58,371
(6,347,080)
58,153,039
2,226,878
16,217
(58,802,529)
1,593,605
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d)
TMP Licenses – Mozambique
PAW entered into a definitive agreement dated April 7, 2009 and under the terms of the agreement PAW acquired 100%
of the issued capital in TML (“TML Shares”) from Bolan (the “Acquisition”). As a result of the Acquisition the Company
has five licenses (the “TMP Licenses”) on the Alto Lingon ha belt of the Zambezi province in Mozambique which are all
five year exploration licenses. For the mining of Tantalum, a royalty of 3% of sales revenue will be payable to the
Mozambique Government. As consideration PAW issued to Bolan’s designates 22,510,000 common shares of PAW of
which 18,008,000 were subject to an escrow agreement (the “Escrowed Shares”). The Escrowed Shares were subject
to a three year staged release escrow commenced August 7, 2009 and released in stages with 10% of Escrowed Shares
being released from escrow immediately and the balance being released in six equal instalments every six months
thereafter. All shares as at December 31, 2012 had been released from escrow.
PAW also granted Bolan (or such parties as assigned by Bolan) the right to explore and mine Gemstones on the TMP
Licenses as defined by the Gemstone Right in the Definitive Agreement.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company completed an assessment on the TMP licenses and
determined that the carrying amount exceeded the recoverable value, and wrote down the carrying the carrying value
to its estimated fair value of $1,624,396 and recorded an impairment charge of $6,347,080 in the year
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company completed an updated assessment on the TMP licenses and
determined that the carrying amount exceeded the recoverable value, and wrote down the carrying the carrying value
to its estimated fair value of $1,593,604 and recorded an impairment charge of $1,123,679 in the year. The aggregate
carrying value of the TMP operations is $4,012,435 which includes the licenses, and plant and mining equipment as
described in Note 8 hereinabove under Assets under Construction and Plant and Field Equipment.
Mrima Hill Project, Kenya
As described in Note 5, on September 12, 2012 the Company completed the acquisition of the UK Subsidiaries which
collectively have a 70% interest in CMK a private Kenyan company that held three prospecting licences in Kenya
referred to as the Mrima Hill Property for total acquisition costs of $56,135,662. In March 2013 the Republic of Kenya,
Mines and Geology department issued a Special Mining Lease 351 (“SML351”) to CMK with a term of 21 years for the
development and mining of Niobium and Rare Earth elements at Mrima Hill.
On August 7, 2013 the Company become aware of press statement made on August 5, 2013 by the Honorable Najib
Balala, Cabinet Secretary of Mining in Kenya (the “Kenyan Ministry Cabinet Secretary”), on the purported revocation of
all licenses (Prospecting, Exploration and Mining), issued in Kenya between 14th January 2013 and 15th May 2013.
Subsequent to this announcement, CMK filed an application in the High Court in Kenya to quash the purported
revocation of CMK’s 21 year Special Mining Lease 351 (“SML351”) and to prohibit the Kenyan Ministry of Mining from
taking any further action detrimental to CMK’s interests.
On September 3, 2013 the Company was granted leave for its application to be heard in the High Court in Kenya to
prohibit the Kenyan Ministry of Mining from taking any further action detrimental to CMK’s interests. The judge granted
an injunction restraining the Ministry of Mining from issuing any license for the area affected by the CMK’s existing
license at Mrima Hill to any other party whilst the matter is before the Court.
On November 12, 2013, CMK’s application to the Kenyan High Court was placed before a judge for directions. The
Court directed that submissions would be highlighted on December 17, 2013.
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d)
Mrima Hill Project, Kenya (cont’d)
The application to the Kenyan High Court was heard on February 18, 2014 for the delivery of the Ruling on the
application by the National Environmental Management Authority (“NEMA”), seeking to strike out this suit on the claim
that it ought to have been filed in Environment and Land Court and the Attorney General’s application seeking the
appointment of a bench of three judges to hear the matter. The Court dismissed the application by NEMA, holding that
the suit was rightfully instituted before the Judicial Review Division of the High Court.
The Judge directed that in the interests of justice, the suit be referred to the Environment and Land Division for
determination. He further directed that the suit be mentioned before a judge in the said division on March 4, 2014 in
order that directions on the highlighting of submissions may be taken.
The Judge held that he will not rule on the Attorney General’s application, in view of his decision referring the suit to the
Environment and Land Division. He directed that the application be held in abeyance pending the directions to be given
on March 4, 2014.
On March 20, 2014, an application from the County Government of Kwale (the” County”) to be enjoined was allowed by
consent of all the parties represented in Court. The County was directed to file and serve its Replying Affidavit and
submissions for Judicial Review.
The Replying Affidavit was heard on 25th June, 2014 wherein the Advocate for the County applied for an adjournment of
the hearing for the reason that the Ex-parte Applicant’s submissions named the County as an Interested Party and that
he therefore, required time to seek instructions and file a Replying Affidavit and Submissions. The hearing of the matter
was adjourned to September 16 -18, 2014.
CMK, who began its special mining license application process in early 2012 is confident it has complied with all
applicable rules and regulations and went through a thorough process in support of its application.

Impairment
The Company considers both quantitative and qualitative factors to assess impairment. As described and set out in
chronological order hereinabove, the Company is currently involved in a legal dispute with the Kenyan Ministry of
Mining regarding the purported revocation of all licenses (Prospecting, Exploration and Mining), issued in Kenya
between January 14, 2013 and May 15, 2013 in Kenya, which includes the Company’s SML351.
Due to the described legal matters, curtailing the Company’s ability to mine and develop Mrima Hill, the Company has
determined there were indicators of impairment for this project. As a result, in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of
Assets, for the year ended December 31, 2013, an impairment charge of $57,678,850 was recognized in respect of the
Mrima Hill Project with a nominal value of $1 remaining, recognizing that the Company’s 70% interest in the project is
uncertain until the legal disputes are settled. The Company is continuing to address the mining license issue with the
Kenya Government, however there is no assurance it will be successful in this legal dispute.
Should the Company be successful in resolving the issues on its Mining Licenses, the Company may be able to reverse
the impairment charged on its Mrima Hill Project back to the lesser of the original carrying amount or recoverable
value.

PACIFIC WILDCAT RESOURCES CORP
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YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Interest payable on notes payable
Interest payable on convertible notes payable
Due to related parties (Note 16(c))

$

Total

$

December 31
2013
966,114
12,056
308,744
571,134
1,858,048

$

December 31
2012
319,689
51,627
53,412
36,408

$

461,136

11. LOANS PAYABLE
As of December 31, 2013 the Company has loans owing of $91,000 (2012 - $466,199) to unrelated parties and $59,533
(2012 - $438,889) to related parties.
On April 26, 2013 the Company received Exchange approval to settle various notes payable as described herein below
(the “Debt Settlement”) of $839,009 with unrelated parties by the issuance of 11,186,783 units at a price of $0.075 per
unit, the trading price of the common shares on the date of settlement. Each unit consists of one common share and
one half of one common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional
common share of the Company for a period of 12 months of issuance exercisable at a price of $0.10.
In addition, a note payable and accrued interest totaling $55,138 due to Terry Lyons (a director of the Company) was
settled by the issuance of 735,173 common shares at a price of $0.075 per share.
The fair value of the warrants issued a part of the debt settlement was $328,892 (being the loss on settlement of debt)
and was estimated using Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:

i)

Grant Date

Expiry
Date

Share
Price at
Grant
Date

4/26/2013

4/26/2014

$0.075

Exercise
Price

RiskFreeInterest
Rate

Expected
Life

Volatility
Factor

Dividend
Yield

$0.10

1.12%

1

236%

0%

Unrelated parties
a)

On June 7, 2012, the Company entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for $52,971 (December 31,
2102 - $51,689) (AUS$50,000). The principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on or before December 7,
2012. The Company settled the principal plus interest payable by the issue of units. On April 26, 2013, the
Company received Exchange approval and settled the debt through the issuance of units.

b)

On June 12, 2012, the Company entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for $50,000. The principal
plus interest of 12% per annum was due on or before December 12, 2012. The Company to settle the principal
plus interest payable by the issue of units. On April 26, 2013, the Company received Exchange approval and
settled the debt through the issuance of units.

c)

On June 19, 2012, the Company entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for $200,000. The
principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on or before December 19, 2012. The Company settled the
principal payable by the issue of units and the interest from available funds. On April 26, 2013, the Company
received the Exchange approval and settled the debt through the issuance of units.
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11.

LOANS PAYABLE (cont’d)

ii)

d)

On June 19, 2012, the Company obtained an unsecured loan of $250,000 from Red Island Resources, a private
company a former director of the Company, had an interest in. The loan bears interest of 12% compounded
monthly and was due 6 months from the date of the loan agreement. The settled the principal payable and the
interest from available funds. On April 26, 2013, the Company received Exchange approval and settled the debt
through the issuance of units.

e)

On July 27, 2012, the Company entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for $115,641(December
31, 2102 -$112,821) (AUS$109,156). The principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on or before
December 27, 2012. The Company settled the principal payable by the issue of units and the interest from
available funds. On April 26, 2013, the Company received Exchange approval and settled the debt through the
issuance of units.

f)

On September 6, 2012, the Company entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for
$52,971(December 31, 2012 - $51,689) (AUS$50,000). The principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on
or before December 6, 2012. The Company settled the principal payable by the issue of units and the interest
from available funds. On April 26, 2013, the Company received Exchange approval and settled the debt through
the issuance of units.

g)

The Company on January 22, 2013 entered into an unsecured loan with a former director of the Company for
$19,950. The principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on April 22, 2013. The loan was re-paid in full
during the year ended December 31, 2013

h)

The Company on January 23, 2013 entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for $50,000. The
principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on April 23, 2013. On April 26, 2013, the Company received
Exchange approval and settled the debt through the issuance of units.

i)

The Company on January 24, 2013 entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for
$51,970(AUD$50,000). The principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due on April 24, 2013. On April 26,
2013, the Company received the Exchange approval and settled the debt through the issuance of units.

j)

The Company on July 23, 2013 entered into an unsecured loan with a private investor for $50,000. The principal
plus interest of 12% per annum was due within three months from the date of the loan agreement. The extension
of this loan is currently being negotiated.

k)

The Company on July 24, 2013 and August 29, 2013 entered into unsecured loans with a private investor for an
aggregate $41,000. The principal plus interest of 12% per annum was due within three months from the date of
the loan agreement. The extension of this loan is currently being negotiated.

Related parties
a)

On June 5, 2012, the Company obtained an unsecured loan of $75,000 from Townsend Family Trust, a trust
owned by the former CEO of the Company. The loan bears interest of 12% compounded monthly and was due 6
months from the date of the loan agreement. The loan was re-paid in full during the period ended December 31,
2013.

b) During the months of September and October, 2012, the Company obtained several unsecured loans totalling
$59,362 (December 31, 2012 -$63,889) (AUS$61,813) from DJCA Pty, a company owned by Darren Townsend,
the former CEO of the Company. The loans bear interest at 12% per annum compounded monthly and were due
6 months from the date of the loan agreement. A partial principal payment of $49,830 was made during the year
ended December 31, 2013 with a remaining balance of $9,533 owing. The Company intends to pay the remaining
principal plus interest payable when available funds are available.
c)

On July 17, 2013 the Company obtained an unsecured loan of $50,000 from Terry Lyons a director of the
Company. The loan bears interest of 12% compounded monthly and is due within three months from the date of
the loan agreement. An extension of this loan is currently being negotiated.
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12. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE
a)

Credit Facility
The Company has arranged financing by way of a non-revolving secured credit facility (the “Facility”) in the
aggregate amount of $2,100,000. Under the terms of the Facility, an aggregate of $2,100,000 can be drawn down by
the Company in 3 tranches of $500,000 each and a final tranche of $600,000 at specific drawdown dates over a
period of nine months as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

September 12, 2012 (drawn down on September 12, 2012);
December 31, 2012 (drawn down on November 26, 2012) or such earlier pursuant to the terms of
the Facility;
March 31, 2013; and
June 12, 2013;

Each drawdown under the Facility plus accrued interest at 15% per annum will mature on the earlier of 12 months
from the date of such drawdown and the date that the Company completes the sale of assets at a deemed value of
not less than $3,000,000. Any amounts not drawn down on a drawdown date will bear a standby fee equal to 3% of
the undrawn portion of drawdown amount is payable to the Lender on such applicable drawdown date. The Facility
is secured by a charge on the physical assets of TMP and by a pledge of 100% of the shares in TMP.
The amounts drawn down under the Facility plus unpaid accrued interest are convertible into units of the Company
at the option of the Lender, at any time prior to their respective maturity date. The conversion rate is fixed on the
day immediately preceding the drawdown date, at the greater of $0.11 per unit and the closing market price of the
common shares of the Company.
Each unit will consist of one common share of the Company and one share purchase warrant. Each warrant will
entitle the holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company at a purchase price equal to the
greater of $0.11 per unit and the closing market price of the common shares of the Company on the Exchange as of
the date immediately preceding the date of issuance of such warrant, for a period of 12 months from the date of the
issuance of the warrants.
The Company has agreed to pay to a finder (the “Finder”) at arm’s length to the Company and the Lender, a finder’s
fee on the date of each drawdown in cash equal to 10% of each respective amount drawdown, and will issue to the
Finder such number of finder’s options which entitle the Finder to purchase such number of common shares of the
Company as is equal to 25% of the number of common shares that may be issued on conversion of each amount
drawdown at an exercise price equal to the greater of $0.11 per share and the market price of the common shares
of the Company on the Exchange as at the closing on the day immediately preceding the date of the drawdown,
exercisable for a period of five years from the date of the respective drawdown.
Upon the First Drawdown, the
Company will pay to the Finder $50,000 in cash (paid) and issue to the Finder an aggregate of 1,136,363 finder’s
warrants (issued) exercisable at $0.11 per unit until September 12, 2017. The fair value of the finder’s warrants
was $78,234 and was estimated using Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:

Grant Date

Expiry
Date

Share
Price at
Grant
Date

9/12/2012

9/12/2017

$0.09

Exercise
Price

RiskFreeInterest
Rate

Expected
Life

Volatility
Factor

Dividend
Yield

$0.11

2.68%

5

108%

0%

Upon the Second Drawdown, the Company will pay to the Finder $50,000 in cash (paid) and issue to the Finder an
aggregate of 1,136,363 finder’s warrants (issued) exercisable at $0.11 per unit until November 26, 2017. The fair
value of the warrants was $67,674 and was estimated using Black-Scholes pricing model with the following
assumptions:
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12. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (cont’d)
a)

Credit Facility (cont’d)

Grant Date

Expiry
Date

Share
Price at
Grant
Date

11/26/2012

11/26/2017

$0.08

Exercise
Price

RiskFreeInterest
Rate

Expected
Life

Volatility
Factor

Dividend
Yield

$0.11

2.30%

5

107%

0%

On November 26, 2012 the Company executed an amendment to the non-revolving credit facility agreement
(“Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”). Under the terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
PAW received the second drawdown amount of $500,000.
The total cash payments of $100,000 and the fair values of the finder’s warrants of $145,908 was recorded as
financing charges and included in the general and administrative costs (Note 15). The Company has credited the
fair values of the finder’s warrants to contributed surplus for the year ended December 31, 2012.
The key terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement are:
1.
2.
3.

The requirement to repay the convertible note by the December 17, 2012 if PAW’s Tantalum Assets in
Mozambique are sold prior to this date.
If the Tantalum Asset sale does not close by December 17, 2012 then PAW shall release the convertible note
provider from any further obligations with respect to the outstanding instalments (Tranche 3 and 4) of the
convertible note, and
If the Tantalum Asset sale does not close by December 17, 2012 then PAW and its subsidiaries shall, within a
period no later than 3 weeks after the December 17, 2012, provide the convertible note provider and holder
with security and charge over the Mozambican Tantalum Assets.

The Company did not complete the sale the Tantalum Assets in accordance with the Agreement; as such Tranche 3
and 4 of the convertible note are not available to the Company. The Company and the provider will look to complete
the security charge over the Mozambican Tantalum Assets.
On September 11, 2013 the Company and the Lender entered into an extension agreement extending the
repayment date to October 3, 2013.
On October 3, 2013, November 6, 2013 and December 2, 2013 the Company and the Lender entered into extension
agreements extending the repayment dates to January 10, 2014. See Events After the Reporting Date.
b)

Vendors Convertible Note
On September 12, 2012 the Company issued to the Vendors (see Note 4) convertible promissory notes in the
aggregate amount of $775,000 (the “Vendors Loan”).
The notes bear interest at 1% per month, compounded monthly and the principal and the interest is convertible at
any time by the Vendors into common shares of PAW at a price of $0.11 per share. If the Vendors do not elect to
convert the Vendors Loans into common shares, then the principal and interest becomes due in cash on September
12, 2013. The notes are repayable at the Company’s election at any time up to September 12, 2013 in cash.
On September 11, 2013 the Company and the Vendors entered into an extension agreement extending the
repayment date to January 20, 2014 and amended the conversion price from $0.11 per share to $0.07 per share.
The Company received Exchange approval on September 23, 2013. See Events After the Reporting Date.
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12. CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE (cont’d)
c)

October 2013 Notes
On October 22, 2013 the Company entered into an unsecured Convertible Promissory Notes (the “Notes”) with
private investors ($150,000) and related parties ($80,000) (the “Holders”) for an aggregate $230,000 at an interest
rate of 15% per annum compounded monthly (the “Interest”). Related parties amounts include:
i) $30,000 from the Townsend Superfund, owned by the former CEO of the Company;
ii) $12,000 from the O’Sullivan Fund; and
iii) $38,000 from Dunross.
The Holders will have the right at any time prior to the maturity date, subject to the approval of the Exchange, to
convert the Notes into units at a conversion price of $0.05 (a “Unit”). Each Unit will consist of one common share
and one share purchase warrant (a “Warrant”). Each Warrant will entitle the Holder to acquire one additional
common share at a price of $0.05 per share for a period of 2 years from the date of issuance. On October 24, 2013
the Company received Exchange approval on the transaction. See Events After the Reporting Date.

d)

December 2013 Notes
On December 5, 2013 the Company entered into an unsecured Convertible Promissory Notes (the “Notes”) with
private investors ($50,000) and related parties ($50,000) (the “Holders”) for an aggregate $100,000 at an interest
rate of 15% per annum compounded monthly (the “Interest”). Related parties amounts include:
i) $10,000 from the Townsend Superfund, owned by the former CEO of the Company;
ii) $25,000 from Terry Lyons, a former director; and
iii) $15,000 from the O’Sullivan Fund.
The Holders will have the right at any time prior to the maturity date, subject to the approval of the Exchange, to
convert the Notes into units at a conversion price of $0.05 (a “Unit”). Each Unit will consist of one common share
and one share purchase warrant (a “Warrant”). Each Warrant will entitle the Holder to acquire one additional
common share at a price of $0.05 per share for a period of 2 years from the date of issuance. On December 10,
2013 the Company received Exchange approval on the transaction. See Events After the Reporting Date.

As of December 31, 2013 the Company has $2,105,000 convertible notes payable (2012 - $1,775,000) as follows:
December 31
2013

December 31
2012

Credit facility:
Principal, due on September 12, 2013 plus interest at 15% per annum
Principal, due on November 26, 2013, plus interest at 15% per annum

$

500,000
500,000
1,000,000

$

500,000
500,000
1,000,000

Vendors convertible notes:
Due on September 12, 2013 plus interest at 12.68% per annum
Due on September 12, 2013 plus interest at 12.68% per annum

$

387,500
387,500
775,000

$

387,500
387,500
775,000

$

230,000

$

—

$
$

100,000
2,105,000

$
$

—
1,775,000

October 2013 convertibles notes:
Due on February 11, 2014 plus interest at 15% per annum
December 2013 convertible notes
Due on February 11, 2014 plus interest at 15% per annum
Balance, at the end of the period

The Company has estimated the fair values of the credit facility and Vendors convertible note using a valuation model
with a discount rate of 20% for which the equity component was immaterial.
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13. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
a.

Authorized Share Capital
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of:
i)

An unlimited number of common shares with no par value.

ii)

An unlimited preferred shares “Class A” with a par value of $1.00 each

iii) An unlimited preferred shares “Class B” without par value
There are no preferred shares outstanding as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.The holders of
common shares are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares are ranked equally with
regards to the Company's residual assets.
b.

Common Shares
The following is a summary of changes in common share capital from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013:
Number of Shares
Balance, January 1, 2012

Issue Price

126,612,683

Amount
$25,098,903

Shares issued for Interest in Mineral Property Option

20,194,768

$0.42

8,481,803

Shares issued for Interest in Mineral Property Option

4,507,584

$0.08

360,607

Shares issued for Interest in Mineral Property Option

92,592,244

$0.09

8,333,302

Private placement

17,142,857

$0.35

6,000,000

Share issue costs

—

—

-423,119

300,000

$0.19

57,000

—

—

32,639

27,272

$0.30

8,182

1,000,000

$0.19

190,000

262,377,408

—

$48,139,317

Shares issued on debt settlement

11,921,956

$0.075

894,147

Private placement

19,983,332

$0.06

1,199,000

Private placement

1,849,285

$0.07

129,450

Share issue costs

-

-

(9,538)

Shares returned to treasury

(1,000,000)

-

-

Balance, December 31, 2013

295,131,981

Exercise of stock options
Fair value of exercise of options
Exercise of warrants
Adjustment for shares to be issued from prior year
Balance, December 31, 2012

$50,352,376

Issued January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013:
On April 23, 2013 the Company completed a non-brokered private placement (the “Financing”) which resulted in the
issuance of 19,983,332 units at a purchase price of $0.06 per unit for gross proceeds of $1,199,000. Each unit is
comprised of one common share of the Company and one-half of one non-transferable common share purchase
warrant. Each whole warrant will entitle the holder thereof to purchase one additional common share of the
Company at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a period of 12 months from the closing date of the private
placement.
On April 26, 2013 the Company issued 11,921,956 common shares and 5,593,393 warrants exercisable for one year
at a price of $0.10 per common share to settle outstanding loans payable for an aggregate amount of $894,147.
See Note 10 Loans Payable.
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13.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cont’d)
b. Common Shares (cont’d)
On April 25, 2013 the Company announced subject to Exchange approval, that it will conduct a non-brokered
private placement financing to raise aggregate gross proceeds of up to $1,500,000 through the issuance of up to
21,428,572 units at a price of $0.07 per unit. Each unit will consist of one common share of the Company and
one-half of one non-transferable common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant will entitle the holder
thereof to purchase one additional common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.10 per share for a
period of 12 months from the closing date of the private placement.
On August 12, 2013 the Company closed the first tranche (the “First Tranche”) of the private placement (the
“Private Placement”) of up to 21,428,572 units (each a “Unit”) to raise aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of
up to $1,500,000, which was originally announced in the Company’s news release dated April 25, 2013. A total of
1,849,285 Units were issued in closing of the First Tranche, for gross proceeds to the Company of $129,450.
Each Unit consists of one common share (a “Share”) in the capital of the Company and one-half of one nontransferable common share purchase warrant (a “Warrant”). Each whole Warrant entitles the holder thereof to
purchase one additional common share (a “Warrant Share”) of the Company at an exercise price of $0.10 per
Warrant Share for a period of 12 months from the closing date of the First Tranche.
As at December 31, 2013 the Company has received $29,357 in subscriptions for tranche two of the Private
Placement as described hereinabove.
On December 11, 2013 1,000,000 common shares were returned to treasury. The 1,000,000 common shares were
issued in connection with bonus shares granted in 2010 and issued to Darren Townsend in 2012 and were returned
as a result of not meeting performance milestone.
Issued January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012:
On January 5, 2012 the Company issued 20,194,768 common shares pursuant to the Acquisition as described in
Note 5 and valued at $8,481,803 as determined by the market price when issued being $0.42 per common share.
On July 18, 2012 the Company issued 4,507,584 common shares pursuant to the Acquisition as described in Note 5
and valued at $360,607 as determined by the market price when issued being $0.08 per common share.
On January 23, 2012 the Company completed a private placement which resulted in the issuance of 17,142,857
units at a price of $0.35 per unit for gross proceeds to the Company of $6,000,000 of which $2,426,425 was
received at December 31, 2011. Each unit consists of one common share and two separate one half of one common
share purchase warrants with 17,142,857 half warrants having an exercise price of $0.50 and 17,142,857warrants
having an exercise price of $0.75. Each whole warrant with exercise price of $0.50 entitles the holder to acquire
one additional common share at a price of $0.50 for 18 months from the date of closing date of the private
placement. Each whole warrant with exercise price of $0.75 entitles the holder to acquire one additional common
share at a price of $0.75 for 18 months from the closing date of the private placement. The warrants with exercise
price of $0.50 are subject to an accelerated expiry which comes into effect once the shares trade above a weighted
average price of $0.60 for any twenty consecutive trading-day period, subsequent to four months and a day from
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13. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cont’d)
b.

Common Shares (cont’d)
Closing (“Accelerated Expiry”). The warrants with exercise price of $0.75 are subject to an accelerated expiry
which comes into effect once the shares trade above a weighted average price of $0.85 for any twenty consecutive
trading-day period, subsequent to four months and a day from the closing date of the private placement
(“Accelerated Expiry”). In the event of an Accelerated Expiry, the expiry date will be the earlier of the regular 18
month expiry date and 30 days from the date the Company advises the placees of the Accelerated Expiry. The
Warrants expired without exercise on July
In connection with the private placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $327,625 in cash and issued 937,573
Finders Warrants. Each Finders Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share (a “Finders Share”) at
a price of $0.50 per Finder Share for a period of 18 months from issuance and on the same terms as the warrants
issued on the January 23, 2012 noted above. The Company also incurred professional fees of $81,399. The fair
value of the Finders Warrants of $14,095 was estimated using Black-Scholes pricing model with the following
assumptions:

Grant Date

Expiry
Date

Share
Price at
Grant
Date

1/23/2012

7/23/2013

$0.07

Exercise
Price

RiskFreeInterest
Rate

Expected
Life

Volatility
Factor

Dividend
Yield

$0.50

1.73%

1.5

133%

0%

On September 12, 2012 the Company issued 92,592,244 common shares pursuant to the closing of the Acquisition
as described in Note 5and valued at $8,333,302 as determined by the market price when issued being $0.09 per
common share.
c.

Contributed Surplus:
Contributed surplus consists of the fair value of stock options and warrants granted since inception, less amounts
transferred to share capital for exercised stock options and warrants. If granted options vest and then
subsequently expire or are forfeited, no reversal of contributed surplus is recognized.

d.

Share Purchase Warrants:
The following is a summary of changes in share purchase from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013:
Share Purchase Warrants
Number
Balance, January 1, 2012
Issued
Exercised
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2012
Expired
Issued
Balance, December 31, 2013

12,334,356
17,142,858
(27,272)
(1,774,400)
27,675,542
(27,675,542)
16,509,704
16,509,704

Weighted Average
Share Price
$0.51
$0.63
$0.30
$0.53
$0.61
$0.61
$0.10
$0.10
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13. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cont’d)
e.

Share Purchase Warrants:(cont’d)
At December 31, 2013, 16,509,704 share purchase warrants were outstanding. Each warrant entitles the holders
thereof the right to purchase one common share as follows:
Number
4,166,667
5,825,001
5,593,393
924,643

Exercise Price
$0.10
$0.10
$0.10
$0.10

Expiry Date
April 1, 2014
April 23, 2014
April 26, 2014
July 29, 2014

16,509,704
See Note 23 for subsequent events.
f.

Agents Options:
The following is a summary of changes in Agents Options from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013:

Number
Balance, January 1, 2012
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013
g.

Weighted Average
Share Price

1,459,381
(1,459,381)

$0.22
$0.22

—

—

Agents Warrants
The following is a summary of changes in Agents Warrants from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013
Agents Warrants
Balance, January 1, 2012
Expired
Issued
Balance, December 31, 2012
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2013

Number
665,067
(183,750)
3,210,299
3,691,616
(1,418,890)
2,272,726

Weighted Average
Share Price
$0.81
$0.30
$0.22
$0.33
$0.67
$0.11

At December 31, 2013, 2,272,726 Agents Warrants were outstanding. Each Agent Warrant entitles the holder
thereof the right to purchase one common share as follows:
Number
1,136,363
1,136,363
2,272,726

Exercise Price
$0.11
$0.11

Expiry Date
September 12, 2017
November 26, 2017
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13. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (cont’d)
h.

Nature and Purpose of Equity and Reserves
The reserves recorded in equity on the Company’s consolidated Statements of Financial Position include
‘Contributed Surplus’, ‘Shares Reserved to be Issued’, ‘Subscriptions received in advance’, ‘Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income’, ‘Accumulated Deficit’ and ‘Non-controlling interest’.
‘Contributed Surplus’ is used to recognize the value of stock option grants and share purchase warrants prior to
exercise.
‘Shares Reserved to be Issued’ is used to record the obligation for issuance of common shares with no
consideration received.
‘Subscriptions received in advance’ is used to record the proceeds received in advance of the issuance of common
shares.
‘Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income’ is used to record the ccumulative translation adjustment includes
foreign exchange losses/gains on translating subsidiaries with a different functional currency than the reporting
entity.
‘Accumulated Deficit’ is used to record the Company’s change in deficit from earnings from year to year.
‘Non-controlling Interest’ is used to record the percentage interests in the net assets acquired and net profit (loss)
subsequent to acquisition attributable to non-controlling interests in a subsidiary.

14. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
a)

Option Plan Details
The Company has a stock option plan in place under which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers and
directors, employees and consultants enabling them to acquire up to 10% of the issued and outstanding common
stock of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company's
stock as calculated on the date of grant. The options can be granted for a maximum term of five years. Vesting is
determined by the Board of Directors. The following is a summary of changes in options from January 1, 2012 to
December 31, 2013.

Grant Date
07/08/2009
13/04/2010
28/07/2010
26/08/2011
26/08/2011
01/09/2011
22/02/2012
05/01/2013

Expiry Date
07/08/2014
13/04/2015
28/07/2015
26/08/2016
26/08/2013
01/09/2016
22/02/2017
01/08/2014

Exercise
Price
$0.12
$0.19
$0.19
$0.65
$0.65
$0.63
$0.405
$0.15

Weighted Average Exercise Price

Opening
Balance
1,810,000
75,000
1,200,000
2,950,000
500,000
300,000
2,500,000
—

During the year ended December 31, 2013
Closing
Granted Exercised Expired
Forfeited
Balance
—
—
—
(200,000)
1,610,000
—
—
—
(75,000)
—
—
—
—
(400,000)
800,000
—
—
—
(600,000)
2,350,000
—
—
—
(500,000)
—
—
—
—
(200,000)
100,000
—
—
—
—
2,500,000
400,000
—
—
—
400,000

9,335,000
$0.42

400,000
$0.15

—
$0.00

—
$0.00

(1,975,000)
$0.48

7,760,000
$0.39

Vested and
Exercisable
1,610,000
—
800,000
2,350,000
—
100,000
2,500,000
200,000

Unvested
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
200,000

7,5,60,000
$0.39

200,000
$0.15
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14. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

Grant
Date
8/7/2009
4/13/2010
7/28/2010
7/28/2010
8/26/2011
8/26/2011
9/1/2011
2/22/2012

Expiry
Date
8/7/2014
4/13/2015
7/28/2015
7/28/2012
8/26/2016
8/26/2013
9/1/2016
2/22/2017

Exercise
Price
$0.12
$0.19
$0.19
$0.19
$0.65
$0.65
$0.63
$0.405

Weighted Average Exercise Price

b)

During the year ended December 31, 2012
Opening
Balance
Granted
Exercised
Expired
1,810,000
—
—
—
75,000
—
—
—
1,200,000
—
—
—
300,000
—
(300,000)
—
3,250,000
—
—
—
500,000
—
—
—
300,000
—
—
—
— 2,500,000
—
—
7,435,000 2,500,000
(300,000)
—
$0.42
$0.405
$0.19
—

Forfeited
—
—
—
—
(300,000)
—
—
—
(300,000)
$0.65

Closing
Balance
1,810,000
75,000
1,200,000
—
2,950,000
500,000
300,000
2,500,000
9,335,000
$0.42

Vested and
Exercisable
1,810,000
75,000
1,200,000
—
2,950,000
500,000
300,000
2,500,000
9,335,000
$0.42

Fair Value of Options Issued During the Year
The weighted average fair value at grant date of options granted during the period ended December 31, 2013 was
$0.41 per option (December 31, 2012 - $0.25).
There were 400,000 options granted during the year ended December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012 – Nil). The
model input for options granted during the year ended December 31, 2013 is as follows:
Grant Date

Expiry Date

Share Price at
Grant Date

Exercise
Price

Risk-Free-Interest
Rate

Expected
Life

Volatility
Factor

Dividend
Yield

05/01/2013

08/01/2014

$0.07

$0.15

1.11%

1.25

140.75%

—

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the expected life of the options), adjusted
for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

15. ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES
December 31
2013
General and Administrative
Consulting fees (Note 16)
Corporate relations
Filing fees
Financing charges
Office
Professional fees
Transfer agent fees
Travel
Wages (Note 16)

$

$

107,201
108,255
21,072
—
145,737
119,078
5,952
17,750
401,020
926,065

December 31
2012
$

$

203,725
178,284
25,626
245,908
263,503
386,445
15,573
74,103
325,250
1,718,417
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16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with related parties were measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties.
a)

Rental Payments
i)

Rental and administration payments of $8,400 (year ended December 31, 2012 - $8,400) were accrued or
paid to Minco Corporate Management Inc. a Company controlled by the Company’s former Chief Financial
Officer;

ii)

Office administration fees of $40,438 (year ended December 31, 2012 - $79,262) were paid to Aspire Mining
and/or DAPRB PTY LTD. a company controlled by David Paull a former director of the Company as
reimbursement for shared office space in relation to the Muaine operations and capitalized under Exploration
and Evaluation expenditures.

Key management personnel compensation comprised :
Consulting fees
Professional fees
Wages

b)

December 31
2013

December 31
2012

$248,148
—
$401,020
$649,168

$177,398
$79,107
$325,250
$581,755

Key Management Compensation
i)

Wages of $401,020 (2012 - $325,250) were paid to Darren Townsend, President and Chief Executive Officer;

ii)

Consulting fees of $78,636 (2012 - $122,730) were paid to a Minco Corporate Management Inc. (“Minco”) a
company controlled by Terese Gieselman, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Secretary of the Company,
providing accounting services, administration staff, corporate compliance services and CFO consulting fees;
iii) Consulting fees of $169,511 (2012 - $Nil) were paid or accrued to David Anderson a director of the Company. A
part of these fees related to exploration expenditures on the Mrimi Hill property and were capitalized.
iv) Professional fees of $Nil (2012 - $79,107) were paid to Norton Rose and/or McLeod Dixon for legal services
provided by Darryl Levitt, a former director of the Company.
c)

Related party liabilities:
Amounts due to:
Darren Townsend
Darren Townsend
Minco Corporate Management Inc.
David Anderson
David Anderson
Don O'Sullivan
Terry Lyons

Service For
Salaries
Expenses
Consulting fees
Consulting fees
Expenses
Expenses
Expenses

$
$
$
$
$
$

December 31
2013
208,344
6,645
34,319
90,544
62,738
168,544
—

$
$
$
$
$
$

December 31
2012
17,268
3,128
15,504
—
—
508

The related party liabilities are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand.
d)

Non-current loans payable
The non-current loans payable to related parties includes loans of $2,315,501 (2012 – $1,913,286) to CMK (See
note 5 Acquisition of Subsidiary) due to directors or companies controlled by directors of CMK. The advances are
unsecured non-interest bearing wherein the lenders have agreed such loans will be not called for repayment
before January 1, 2015.
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17. INCOME TAXES
Taxation in the Company and its subsidiary’s operational jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective jurisdictions.
The difference between tax expense for the year and the expected income taxes based on the statutory tax rate arises
as follows:
December 31
2013
Loss before income taxes

$

(60,555,579)

Recovery based on the statutory rate of 25.75% (2012: 25.00%)
Impact of mineral property impairment
Non-deductible expenses
Differential tax rates of other jurisdictions
Share issue costs
Other
Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets
Total income tax (recovery) expense

December 31
2012
$

(15,593,000)

(2,220,000)

15,368,000

—

87,000

196,000

8,000

(298,000)

(2,000)

(102,000)

(354,000)
486,000
—

$

(8,880,532)

391,000
$

1,259,000
(774,000)

Effective July 1, 2013, the Canadian Federal corporate tax rate is 15.00% and the British Columbia provincial tax rate
increased from 10.00% to 11.00%.
The tax rates at 32.0% and 30.0% represents the federal statutory rate applicable for the 2013 taxation year for
Mozambique and Kenya respectively.
No deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the following losses and temporary differences as it is not
considered probable that sufficient future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered:
December 31
2013
Loss carry forwards

$

2,634,000

December 31
2012
$

2,134,000

Exploration and evaluation assets

455,000

428,000

Start-up costs

104,000

97,000

Other deductible temporary differences

102,000

84,000

Share issue costs

196,000

262,000

(3,491,000)

(3,005,000)

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets/liabilities

$

—

$

—

As at December 31, 2013, the Company has non-capital losses for Canadian and Mozambique income tax purposes that
may be carried forward to reduce taxable income derived in future years, as summarized below:
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17. INCOME TAXES (cont’d)
Non-capital Canadian tax losses expiring as follows:
Year of Expiry

Canada

2015

$

—

2016

Mozambique
$

595,000

—

1,403,000

2017

—

936,000

2031

1,657,000

—

2032

1,888,000

2033

1,532,000

Total

$

5,077,000

—
$

2,934,000

18. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net loss for the year by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
December 31
2013
($60,555,579)
285,460,529
($0.21)

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
Weighted average number of common shares
Basic and diluted loss per share
19.

December 31
2012
($8,106,532)
193,620,882
($0.04)

SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company has one operating segment which is acquisition, exploration and evaluation properties. Non-current
assets by geographical segments are as follows:
As at December 31, 2013
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation
assets
As at December 31, 2012
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation
assets

Canada

Mozambique

Kenya

Total

15,524

2,418,831

3,085

2,437,440

$

—
15,524

$

1,593,604
4,012,435

$

1
3,086

$

1,593,605
4,031,045

$

Canada
49,865

$

Mozambique
2,355,203

$

Kenya
4,765

$

Total
2,409,833

—
$

49,865

1,624,396
$

3,979,599

56,528,643
$

56,533,408

58,153,039
$

60,562,872
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20. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded from the statements of
cash flows. During the year ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the following transactions were
excluded from the statements of cash flows:
i)

The Company, pursuant to the Mrima Hill Acquisition Agreement, issued Nil (2012 - 117,294,596) common
shares valued at $Nil (2012 – $17,175,712) as determined by their market prices when issued;

ii)

A share issuance cost of $Nil (2012 - $14,905) associated with the grant of Nil (2012 – 937,573) Agents Warrants
(as described in Note 13 herein above);

iii) A financing charge of $Nil (2012 - $78,234) associated with the issuance of Nil (2012 - 1,136,363) Finders
Warrants (as described in Note 12 herein above);
iv) A financing charge of $Nil (2012 - $67,674) associated with the issuance of Nil (2012 - 1,136,363) Finders
Warrants (as described in Note 13 herein above);
v)

Resource property and deferred acquisition costs include $872,245 (2012: $85,503) through accounts payable
and accrued liabilities;

vi) The Company issued $Nil convertible notes payable (2012 - $775,000 in the acquisition of the assets in CMK in
Kenya:and

vii) The Company issued 11,921,956 common shares and 5,593,393 (2012 – Nil) warrants exercisable for one year

at a price of $0.10 per common share to settle outstanding loans payable for an aggregate amount of $894,147
(2012 - $Nil) (as described in Note 11 hereinabove).

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The company is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:
- Market Risk
- Credit Risk
- Liquidity Risk
In common with all other businesses, the Company is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments.
This note describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used
to measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial
statements.
There have been no substantive changes in the Company’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives,
policies and processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous years unless
otherwise stated in the note.
General Objectives, Policies and Processes:
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company’s risk management objectives
and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and
operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Company’s
management. The effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it
sets are reviewed periodically by the Board of Directors if and when there are any changes or updates required.
The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting
the Company’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below.
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Market prices are comprised of interest rate, commodity price risk and foreign currency risk.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
General Objectives, Policies and Processes: (cont’d)
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The
Company has cash balances and interest-bearing liabilities. The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in
interest bearing accounts of major Canadian chartered banks and other reputable financial institutions. The Company
considers this risk to be immaterial. The Company regularly monitors compliance to its cash management policy.
The Company is not subject to interest rate risk on its loans payable and convertible loans payable as the instruments
have fixed interest rates.
Cash is subject to floating interest rates.
Commodity Price Risk
The Company’s ability to raise capital to fund exploration or development activities may be subject to risks associated
with fluctuations in the market prices of the relevant commodities. The Company closely monitors commodity prices to
determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.
Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and US dollar or other
foreign currencies will affect the Company’s operations and financial results. The Company is in exploration stage and
has operations in Mozambique, U.K. and Kenya and transactions are denominated in US dollars, Australian dollars,
Great British Pounds and Kenyan Shilling. As such the Company has exposure to foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations. A 10% fluctuation in foreign held cash against the Canadian dollar would approximately result in a $7,200
increase or decrease in the Company’s after tax net earnings. The Company has not entered into any agreements or
purchased any instruments to hedge possible foreign currency risks.
The following table reflects the Company’s foreign currency exposure as of December 31, 2013:

Financial assets:
Cash
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other liabilities
Loans payable
Convertible notes payable
Loans payable to related
parties

Canadian
dollar

US dollar

Australian
dollar

Kenyan
shilling

$

$

$

$

Great
Britain
pound
$

Total
$

17,690

49,399

—

22,648

—

89,737

781,942
100,533
2,105,000

443,386
—
—

543,316
—
—

4,947
—
—

1,858,048
100,533
2,105,000

9,533

2,315,501

84,457
—
—
—

50,000

—

2,375,034
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
General Objectives, Policies and Processes: (cont’d)
Foreign Currency Risk (cont’d)
The following table reflects the Company’s foreign currency exposure as of December 31, 2012
Canadian
dollar

US dollar

Australian
dollar

Kenyan Shilling

Total

$

$

$

$

$

Financial assets:
Cash

37,939

59,338

—

27,498

124,775

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other liabilities

450,003

—

11,133

—

461,136

Loans payable

250,000

—

216,778

—

466,788

1,775,000

—

—

—

1,775,000

63,300

1,913,286

2,351,586

Convertible notes payable
Loans payable to related parties

375,000

—

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or a counter party to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations. Financial instruments which are potentially subject to credit risk for the Company
consist primarily of cash. Cash is maintained with financial institutions of reputable credit and may be redeemed upon
demand.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Credit risk exposure is limited
through maintaining cash with high-credit quality financial institutions and management considers this risk to be
minimal for all cash assets based on changes that are reasonably possible at each reporting date.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The
Company’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when they become
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Company’s reputation. The key to success in managing liquidity is the degree of certainty in the cash flow projections.
If future cash flows are fairly uncertain, the liquidity risk increases.
Typically, the Company ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a
period of 90 days. To achieve this objective, the Company would prepare annual capital expenditure budgets, which
are regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary. Further, when required the Company utilizes
authorizations for expenditures on exploration projects to further manage expenditure.
The Company monitors its risk of shortage of funds by monitoring the maturity dates of existing trade and other
payables, loans payable, convertible notes payable and loans payable to related parties. The Company does not
typically maintain any trade payables beyond a 30 day period to maturity. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has
a working capital deficiency of $3,991,316.
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
General Objectives, Policies and Processes: (cont’d)
The following table summarizes the Company’s significant remaining contractual maturities for financial liabilities at
December 31, 2013:
Less than 3
months
Trade and other payables
Loan payable
Note payable
Loan payable to related parties
Total

3-12
months

$

1,858,048
150,533
2,105,000
$ 4,113,581

$

-

$

Over 12
months
$

2,315,501
$ 2,315,501

Total
$

$

1,858,048
150,533
2,105,000
2,315,501
6,429,082

Contractual maturities for financial liabilities at December 31, 2012:
Less than 3
months
Trade and other payables
Loan payable
Note payable
Loan payable to related parties
Total

$

461,136
905,088
1,000,000
$ 4,113,581

3-12
months
$

$

775,000
775,000

Over 12
months
$

1,913,286
$ 1,913,286

Total
$

$

461,136
905,088
1,775,000
1,913,286
5,054,510

Determination of Fair Value
Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific
to that asset or liability.
The Statements of Financial Position carrying amounts for cash, receivables and trade and other payables, notes
payable, convertible notes payable and loans payable to related parties approximate fair value due to their short-term
nature.
Due to the use of subjective judgments and uncertainties in the determination of fair values these values should not be
interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the financial instruments.
Fair Value Hierarchy
Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped in Levels 1 to 3
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:
- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities; and
- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and
- Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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22. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company considers its cash, common shares, warrants and stock options as capital. The Company’s objectives
when maintaining capital are to maintain a sufficient capital base in order to meet its short-term obligations and at the
same time preserve investor’s confidence required to sustain future development and production of the business.
The company is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the
Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2013.

23.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
a) Credit Facility
Subject to Exchange approval, on January 2, 2014 the Company and the Lender entered into an amending
agreement extending the repayment dates to July 1, 2014 and reducing the conversion price from $0.11 per Unit to
$0.05 per Unit. Additionally, the warrants issuable upon exercise of the Unit will be exercisable at $0.05 per share
until July 1, 2015. The Company received Exchange approval on January 8, 2014. The Company has not made any
payments on the credit facility. An extension of this loan is currently being negotiated.
b) Vendors’ Convertible Notes
Subject to Exchange approval, on January 2, 2014 the Company and the Vendors entered into an amending
agreements extending the repayment dates to July 1, 2014 and reducing the conversion price from $0.07 per Unit
to $0.05 per Unit. The Company received Exchange approval on January 6, 2014. The Company has not made any
payments on the convertible notes. An extension of these loans is currently being negotiated.
c) Convertible Notes October 2013 and December 2013
Subject to Exchange approval, on January 2, 2014 the Company and the holders entered into amending agreements
extending the repayment date to July 1, 2014. The Company received Exchange approval on January 6, 2014. The
Company has not made any payments on the convertible notes. An extension of these loan is currently being
negotiated.
d) Warrants
-

On April 1, 2014, 4,166,667 warrants at an exercise price of $0.10 expired without exercise;

-

On April 23, 2014, 5,825,001 warrants at an exercise price of $0.10 expired without exercise;

-

On April 26, 2014, 5,593,393 warrants at an exercise price of $0.10 expired without exercise; and

-

On July 29, 2014, 924,643 warrants at an exercise price of $0.10 expired without exercise;

e) Stock Options
-

On August 1, 2014,400,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.15 expired without exercise; and

-

On August 7, 2014 1,610,000 stock options at an exercise price of $0.12 expired without exercise.

